FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/23/2019 1:45 PM
No. 97704-6

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/25/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

DAKOTA MIKALLE COLLINS,

Petitioner.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Court of Appeals No. 51511-3-II
Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
Superior Court Cause Number 16-1-02182-6
The Honorable Stephanie Arend, Judge

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM Attorney for Petitioner WSBA No. 26436

4616 25th Avenue NE, No. 552 Seattle, Washington 98105 Phone (206) 526-5001

# **

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is DAKOTA MIKALLE COLLINS, Defendant and Appellant in the case below.

### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division 2, case number 51511-3-II, which was filed on August 27, 2019. (Attached in Appendix) The Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction and sentence entered against Petitioner in the Pierce County Superior Court.

### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Where youthfulness and surrounding circumstances of upbringing can diminish a juvenile offender's culpability and can constitute a mitigating factor justifying the imposition of a reduced sentence, did the trial court abuse its discretion when it failed to consider whether sixteen-year-old Dakota Collins' behavior and decision making were a product of his youthful immaturity and traumatic childhood?
- 2. Where the differences between young offenders and adult offenders can constitute a mitigating factor justifying the imposition of a reduced sentence, did the trial court meaningfully consider youth and its attributes when it failed to address the differences between sixteen-year-old Dakota Collins and adult offenders?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Pierce County Prosecutor charged sixteen-year-old

Dakota Mikalle Collins with one count of first degree felony murder

for allegedly causing the death of Lorenzo Parks during an incident that occurred on the 17th or 18th of May, 2016. (CP 1-2) The State further alleged that the charged incident was committed with a firearm. (CP 1-2)

Dakota took responsibility for his actions and entered a guilty plea to an amended information charging one count of second degree murder while armed with a firearm, one count of attempted first degree robbery, and two counts of first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. (CP 272-74, 276-87; 09/15/17 RP 3-4) When asked to state the factual basis to support the plea, Dakota wrote:

Between May 17th and 18th, I, Dakota Collins, did intentionally shoot Mr. Lorenzo Parks while my codefendants and I were attempting to take his property by force and while Mr. Parks was resisting the taking of his property. The gun I used to shoot Mr. Parks was a real gun, and Mr. Parks died from the gunshot would. I also should not have been in possession of the firearm because I had previously been convicted of a felony offense and a juvenile which prohibited me from having in my possession a firearm. I also had in my possession a firearm on June 16, 2016 when I was arrested for the offense related to Mr. Parks when my rights to possess a firearm had not been restored to me. All acts occurred in the State of Washington. My shooting of Mr. Parks was my intent to commit Assault 1.

(CP 285) After a lengthy colloquy, the trial court found that the plea

was knowing, voluntary and intelligent, and it accepted Dakota's guilty plea. (09/15/17 RP 6-17)

The prosecutor recommended that Dakota be sentenced to a standard range adult sentence totaling 260 months (21.6 years) of confinement. (10/05/17 RP 60-61) Dakota asked the Court to exercise its discretion and impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range based on Dakota's youth and other related mitigating factors. (10/05/17 RP 62-71)

In its sentencing memorandum, the defense summarized Dakota's difficult childhood and his struggle with behavioral disorders, and his amenability to treatment and rehabilitation:

According to CPS records, Dakota's biological mother, Venessa White, was serving her time at Echo Glen when she gave birth to Dakota Collins on October 23, 1999. [CP 307] Venessa was 16-years-old....

While pregnant with Dakota and since age 13, Venessa had been taking controlled substances. "Alcohol, amphetamine, cocaine, marijuana, tobacco, tobacco dipped in formaldehyde." Whatever she could get her hands on. [CP 313].... Venessa's inadequate parenting skills could not cope with a drug-exposed infant. Youth, poor education, low economic status, being single mother, drug addiction were all a recipe for disaster. On July 3, 2001, the State filed dependency on Dakota and his younger brother.

Of course the effects of those formative years with a drug addicted child-mother, already began taking its toll on Dakota. At age 3, the social workers noted:

Dakota has problems with focusing and staying on task, as well as complying with adult requests. This behavior may be age-related or may be due to maternal drug or alcohol use. He is too young for an ADHD assessment and diagnosis, but if this behavior continues, his foster parents will follow through with a medical evaluation to determine what services, if any, are needed.

[CP 341]

With his mother detained for not following through with probation and unable to provide for Dakota and not knowing what the future held, on October 13, 2003, after two years of being in dependency and almost two years in foster care, Venessa finally relinquished her parental rights. Dakota's biological father's parental rights were terminated on October 8, 2003.

[T]he effects of pre-natal drug abuse became evident even before Dakota turned 5 and even before he began attending school. He showed all the symptoms of a drug addicted baby - irritability, agitation, hyperactivity, poor task organization and processing. [CP 352-58] As the studies have predicted. during second grade. Dakota was diagnosed with ADHD. [CP 360-62] It was evident to everyone, especially his adoptive parents and his teachers that Dakota was more emotionally reactive. anxious and depressed, even at that young age. Dakota needed medication and had to be closely monitored.

Ritalin, Adderall and Concerta, however, did not work for Dakota. All through grade school and into junior high and high school, Dakota continued to struggle. He was impulsive, reactive, hyperactive, showed undue aggression, was sensation seeking, he could not behave in school or at home, had clear emotional problems and poor social skills. [CP 363-68] His parents didn't know what to do with him. Multiple times he was suspended from school for misbehavior. [CP 363-68] Multiple times Dakota

sought help from professionals and multiple times he failed. It was clear: not only did he suffer from attention deficit disorder, he also suffered from oppositional defiant disorder (ODD). [CP 361]

... [A]t age 12, Dakota was sent to the Southern Military Academy in Port St. Lucie, Florida. But what should have been a positive, life-changing learning experience for Dakota turned into a nightmare.

Unbeknownst to his adoptive parents, the Military Academy had been investigated by the Department of Children and Families (DCF) for at least 30 allegations of abuse and neglect at the academy since 2000. [CP 371-92] The types of abuses included asphyxiation, beatings, bizarre punishment. bruises/welts. burns. cuts/punctures/bites, excessive corporal punishment, sexual abuse, sexual exploitation, sexual molestation, and inappropriate/excessive restraints. [CP 371-92] Unfortunately for Dakota, his parents did not listen to his cries to bring him home, ignored his repeated complaints of severe physical abuse, did not take seriously his reports of the types of punishment Dakota and others suffered at the hands of Colonel Weierman. It wasn't until [his adoptive mother] had a confrontation with Colonel Weierman she realized how wrong she had been to not believe Dakota, how wrong she had been to ignore his cries for help. She agreed to bring Dakota home, but the damage was done. Dakota returned home even angrier than before.

What he suffered at the hands of Colonel Weierman and the other juveniles at the military school is more fully described in Dr. Gerlock's report. [CP 393-409] Suffice it to say, Dakota returned suffering from post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), desperately needing treatment and medication—neither of which he received or attempted to receive. Instead, he took to the streets. He self-medicated on drugs and marijuana. He committed this crime—taking the life of Mr. Parks—high on drugs, with no

control over his emotions, his thought processes and his reasoning abilities severely compromised. He saw Mr. Parks fighting with his friends/codefendants as he resisted their attempts to rob him. He heard his codefendants yell, "Shoot him! Shoot him!" As the incident unfolded, Dakota's PTSD became triggered, and he snapped. He fired the gun not thinking or considering the consequences of his act. At age 16, he killed Mr. Parks, and Dakota knows he will have to atone for this tragic mistake for the rest of his life.

...After his arrest on June 7, 2016, Dakota was sent to Remann Hall, a juvenile detention facility in There, he received much Tacoma Washington. needed mental health counseling from Catholic Community Services. For the first time since returning from Southern Military Academy, he was able to talk about what happened to him at the Academy. He began attending classes five days a week, Monday through Friday for 1 to 1 ½ hours a day, and as he began understanding his own history, he began to grasp the pain he has caused to his adoptive parents, to the mother who bore him, and especially to the family of Mr. Lorenzo Parks. Through counseling, he began to understand his biological mother, forgive her, and find comfort in her What began as forced counseling love for him. became a source of reflection and reprieve.

(CP 297-301) Psychologist April Ann Gerlock also testified that Dakota suffered from PTSD, and coupled with the normal underdeveloped functioning of his adolescent brain, Dakota's judgment and ability to consider consequences would have been impaired. (10/05/17 RP 46-47) These conditions would negatively impact how Dakota would respond and react during a stressful event. (10/05/17 RP 47)

The trial judge was unmoved, and adopted the prosecutor's recommendation. (10/05/17 RP 78; CP 416) The court stated:

[L]ife is about choices and that you have the choice to walk away. And the facts that were described of what happened that night ... you had a choice to walk away.

...This [proceeding] isn't about giving programming or providing opportunities for youth. This is about accountability under the law for actions that you took.

... [O]ne of the victim's family members talked about ... setting standards for our children. ... We have to be telling them: This is wrong. And it's not okay to just slap them on the wrist.

And there's, I think, a very real concern by the family members here of Mr. Parks that that's what this is all about. That ... if you commit a violent, horrific act where someone is shot and killed, that we are supposed to, because of your youth, give you a slap on the hand and put you through some rehabilitative programming and expect you to become a contributing member of society.

And while I do agree that rehabilitation should be part of this, punishment is also a part of this. Deterrence is part of this. Protection of the public is part of this. And ... this was not your first felony conviction, is my understanding. You were previously convicted of a felony offense as a juvenile, which prevents you from having a firearm in any event. So despite the things that were being done for you or with you, you made very bad choices, and continued to make very bad choices.

... But the facts as they sound to me don't sound like a person who was in fear for their life, and I suspect you wouldn't have pled guilty to the murder in the second degree if in fact what you were doing was protecting yourself or protecting your friends.

... [N]othing miraculous happens on your 18th birthday. You don't suddenly have your brain fully

developed so that you're now going to make good choices and now going to be able to assess risks and consequences of your behavior differently than you did the day before you turned 18. And I suspect that you actually did have a good appreciation when you had a gun in your hand, a loaded gun in your hand, and took the magazine out and put it back in, that you had an appreciation for the risk associated with that gun and what would happen if you pulled the trigger.

... I do think that *Houston-Sconiers* requires the Court to consider all of the factors, not just the act itself. But it can't -- it's like, okay, how do you consider immaturity or failure to appreciate risks and consequences. You don't consider those in a vacuum. You consider them in the context of what brings us all here today, and that is that you chose to pull the trigger, and a person died as a result.

... And to Mr. Collins, considering all of these factors, including all of the goals of sentencing that I've already touched on, of what is a just punishment, what will be a deterrent, what would it take to rehabilitate you -- which I honestly didn't hear a lot about -- and how do we protect the public, I do think a sentence within the standard sentencing range is appropriate, plus the firearm sentencing enhancement and a period of community custody.

### (10/05/17 RP 72-77)

Dakota appealed, arguing that he was denied his due process rights when he was prosecuted in adult court without a decline hearing, and that the trial court failed to meaningfully consider his youth as a mitigating factor at sentencing.

The Court of Appeals rejected these arguments and affirmed

Dakota's conviction and sentence. 1

### V. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

The issues raised by Dakota Collins' petition should be addressed by this Court because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with settled case law of the Court of Appeals, this Court and of the United State's Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

Under the SRA, a sentencing court must generally sentence a defendant within the standard range. *State v. Graham*, 181 Wn.2d 878, 882, 337 P.3d 319 (2014); RCW 9.94A.505(2)(a)(i). But the "concept of proportionality is central to the Eighth Amendment." *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 2463, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012).

Accordingly, "[t]he court may impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range if it finds that mitigating circumstances are established by a preponderance of the evidence." RCW 9.94A.535(1). The diminished culpability of youth may serve as a mitigating factor. See RCW 9.94A.535(1)(e); State v. Ronquillo, 190 Wn. App. 765, 769, 361 P.3d 779 (2015); Miller v.

9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> After the Dakota filed his Opening Brief, this Court issued its opinion in *State v. Watkins*, 191 Wn.2d 530, 423 P.3d 830 (2018), which held that automatic decline of juvenile court jurisdiction does not violate procedural or substantive due process.

Alabama, supra., State v. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d 680, 358 P.3d 359 (2015).

That is because children are "constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing." *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2464. Children are less blameworthy because they are less capable of making reasoned decisions. *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2464. Scientists have documented their lack of brain development in areas of judgment. *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2464.

These scientific studies "reveal fundamental differences between adolescent and mature brains in the areas of risk and consequence assessment, impulse control, tendency toward antisocial behaviors, and susceptibility to peer pressure." *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 692 (footnote citations omitted); see also *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2468 (the hallmark features of youth that diminish a juvenile's blameworthiness under the Eighth Amendment include immaturity, impulsivity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences).

Thus, a sentencing court must consider a juvenile offender's "youth and attendant characteristics" before determining the penalty, and not simply examine his acts during the incident. *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2471. The judge must "meaningfully consider youth

as a possible mitigating circumstance." O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d at 696.

In *State v. Houston-Sconiers*, this Court provided guidance to sentencing courts on how to exercise their discretion in juvenile sentencing:

[I]n exercising full discretion in juvenile sentencing, the court must consider mitigating circumstances related to the defendant's youth—including age and its "hallmark features," such as the juvenile's "immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences." It must also consider factors like the nature of the juvenile's surrounding environment and family circumstances, the extent of the juvenile's participation in the crime, and "the way familial and peer pressures may have affected him [or her]." And it must consider how youth impacted any legal defense, along with any factors suggesting that the child might be successfully rehabilitated.

188 Wn.2d 1, 23, 391 P.3d 409 (2017) (quoting *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2468).

Furthermore, in assessing whether any fact is a valid mitigating factor, the sentencing court's task is to determine whether that fact differentiates the current offense and offender from others in the same category. *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 690. What makes youthfulness a mitigating factor is the degree to which youth and its characteristics differentiates youthful offenders from older offenders. *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d. at 693. It is "misguided" to equate adolescent failings with those of older offenders. *Roper v.* 

Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 570, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2005). Thus, another relevant question is to what degree did Dakota's youth differentiate him and his offense from other adult offenders. Contrary to the Court of Appeals' findings here (Opinion at 6-7), the trial court did not attempt to consider any of these factors.

First, at no point did the court consider how Dakota's maturity, culpability, and decision making abilities (or lack thereof) compared to adult offenders. By failing to do so, the trial court did not give effect to the mandate of the SRA, *Miller* or *O'Dell*.

The trial court also failed to give effect to the Supreme Court's caution, that the hallmark attributes of youth are transient. "The relevance of youth as a mitigating factor derives from the fact that the signature qualities of youth are transient; as individuals mature, the impetuousness and recklessness that may dominate in younger years can subside." *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 570. The trial court never assessed Dakota's likelihood for rehabilitation that may occur simply from maturation as compared to older adult offenders. Instead, the trial court simply focused on Dakota's past behavior and the consequences of that behavior, and did not consider Dakota's ability to appreciate those consequences or to make

mature decisions about his life when he was just 16 years old.

The trial court also repeatedly referred to Dakota's "choices," stating: "life is about choices and ... you had a choice to walk away" (10/05/17 RP 72); "you made very bad choices, and continued to make very bad choices" (10/05/17 RP 74); and "you chose to pull the trigger, and a person died as a result" (10/05/17 RP 76). But the court failed to consider that immature judgment and impetuousness—classic traits of youth—may have contributed to Dakota's choices. And the court did not consider how Dakota's youth and traumatic upbringing may have impacted his ability to make good choices.

The trial court "did not meaningfully consider youth as a possible mitigating circumstance" and therefore failed to properly exercise its discretion at sentencing. *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 696-97. Dakota's case should be remanded for a new sentencing hearing. *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 697.

### VI. CONCLUSION

This Court should accept review, and remand this matter for a new sentencing hearing to permit the court to meaningfully consider Dakota's youthfulness, surrounding environment and family circumstances as a mitigating factor. DATED: September 23, 2019

Stephaniel

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM, WSB #26436 Attorney for Petitioner Dakota Mikalle Collins