FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/31/2020 3:22 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97704-6

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

### DAKOTA MIKALLE COLLINS,

Petitioner.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Stephanie Arend 06-1-02182-6

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Prosecuting Attorney

KRISTIE BARHAM
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 32764 / OID #91121
Pierce County Prosecutor's Office
930 Tacoma Ave., Rm 946
Tacoma, WA 98402-2171
(253) 798-6746

###

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals' decision that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to impose an exceptional sentence after considering the mitigating qualities of youth does not conflict with any Supreme Court decision or published decision of the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to impose an exceptional mitigated sentence downward based on Collins' youth and upbringing. As the Court of Appeals properly explained, the trial court was well aware of its discretion to impose an exceptional mitigated sentence based on Collins' youth, but instead determined that an exceptional sentence was not warranted after it considered all of the mitigating evidence. This decision does not conflict with any Supreme Court decision or published decision from the Court of Appeals. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2).<sup>4</sup> This Court should deny review.

1. Collins may not appeal a standard range sentence that is a proper exercise of the trial court's discretion.

It is the Legislature's prerogative to determine the presumptive sentence ranges for crimes, and those ranges are presumed constitutional. *See State v. Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d 175, 180-81, 713 P.2d 719 (1986). The Sentencing Reform Act of 1981 (SRA), chapter 9.94A RCW, prohibits the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Although Collins argues that review is appropriate under both RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2), he does not identify any published Court of Appeals' decision that he believes conflicts with *Collins*. Thus, the State is unable to respond to this argument and will focus its answer on RAP 13.4(b)(1).

appeal of a standard range sentence. RCW 9.94A.585(1). But a defendant may appeal a standard range sentence if the trial court violated the constitution or failed to comply with the procedural requirements of the SRA. *State v. Osman*, 157 Wn.2d 474, 481-82, 139 P.3d 334 (2006). Thus, a defendant may challenge the procedure by which a standard range sentence is determined where he requests an exceptional sentence downward. *State v. Garcia-Martinez*, 88 Wn. App. 322, 329-30, 944 P.2d 1104 (1997). But "review is limited to circumstances where the court has refused to exercise discretion at all or has relied on an impermissible basis for refusing to impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range." *Id.* at 330.

A sentencing court's decision will be reversed only if there is "a clear abuse of discretion or misapplication of the law." *State v. Delbosque*, No. 96709-1, 456 P.3d 806, 812 (2020). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. *Id.* A trial court does not abuse its discretion as a matter of law by sentencing a defendant within the standard sentencing range set by the Legislature. *State v. Williams*, 149 Wn.2d 143, 146-47, 65 P.3d 1214 (2003).

Under the SRA, a trial court may impose a sentence outside the standard range if it finds "substantial and compelling reasons justifying an exceptional sentence." RCW 9.94A.535. Mitigating circumstances

justifying a sentence below the standard range must be established by a preponderance of the evidence. RCW 9.94A.535(1). A defendant's youth can amount to a substantial and compelling reason to mitigate a sentence if it significantly impairs his capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct or conform his conduct to the law. *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 696, 358 P.3d 359 (2015). Although a defendant's youthfulness can support an exceptional sentence below the standard range, it is within the sentencing court's discretion to decide when that is. *Id.* at 698-99.

Although every defendant is entitled to ask the court for an exceptional sentence below the standard range and to have the court consider the request, no defendant is entitled to such a sentence. *State v. Grayson*, 154 Wn.2d 333, 342, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005). A trial court abuses its discretion if it categorically refuses to impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range under any circumstances. *Id.*; *State v. McFarland*, 189 Wn.2d 47, 56, 399 P.3d 1106 (2017). A trial court also abuses its discretion if it mistakenly believes it lacked discretion to impose a mitigated exceptional sentence. *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 696-97; *McFarland*, 189 Wn.2d at 56. But a trial court that has considered the facts and concluded that there is no basis for an exceptional sentence has exercised its discretion, and the defendant may not appeal that ruling. *Garcia-Martinez*, 88 Wn. App. at 330.

Here, the trial court neither refused to exercise its discretion nor mistakenly believed that it lacked discretion to impose a mitigated exceptional sentence below the standard range. The trial court considered the extensive sentencing materials submitted by Collins in support of a mitigated exceptional sentence based on youth and acknowledged that it put "a great deal of thought" into his request for an exceptional sentence below the standard range. *See* RP 26, 76-77; *see also* CP 291-409. After hearing extensive argument from counsel, the trial court appropriately exercised its discretion to deny Collins' request for a mitigated exceptional sentence and instead imposed a sentence within the standard range. *See* RP 26-72, 73-78.

The Court of Appeals properly determined that this was an appropriate exercise of sentencing discretion. As the Court of Appeals correctly explained, the trial court "was well aware of its ability and discretion to impose an exceptional mitigated sentence" based on Collins' youth, but instead determined that a standard range sentence was appropriate after considering all of the mitigation materials and extensive arguments regarding youth and *Houston-Sconiers*. *State v. Collins*, No. 51511-3-II, 2019 WL 4034638 at \*4 (Wash. Ct. App. August 27, 2019). The Court of Appeals affirmed the standard range sentence, noting that the trial court did not categorically refuse to exercise its discretion, but rather properly exercised its discretion and determined that the facts and

circumstances did not warrant an exceptional mitigated sentence. *Id.* This decision does not conflict with any decision of the Supreme Court. It was within the trial court's discretion to determine if Collins' youth and mitigation materials supported an exceptional sentence downward. *See O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 698-99. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by sentencing Collins within the standard range. There is no basis for review.

## 2. The unpublished Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any Supreme Court decision.

Collins appears to argue that this Court should accept review because the unpublished decision in *Collins* conflicts with both *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L.Ed.2d 407 (2012) and *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680. *See* Pet. for Rev. at 11-13. He is wrong.

In *Miller*, the United States Supreme Court held that the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on "cruel and unusual punishments" forbids *mandatory* life without parole sentencing schemes for juvenile offenders. *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 465, 470-74. *Miller* expanded the principles in two prior United States Supreme Court decisions dealing with juvenile sentences and the Eighth Amendment. *See Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 578, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1 (2005) (Eighth Amendment forbids imposition of the death penalty on juveniles); *see also Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 82, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d 825 (2010) (Eighth Amendment prohibits life without parole sentences on juvenile nonhomicide offenders).

Miller explained that the mandatory sentencing scheme of life without parole removes youthfulness from the balance and prohibits a sentencing court from assessing whether the harshest possible penalty for juveniles is a proportionate sentence. Miller, 567 U.S. at 474, 479. The Court did not foreclose life sentences for juveniles, but it held that a sentencing court must have the opportunity to consider the mitigating circumstances of a juvenile's youth and its attendant characteristics before imposing the harshest possible penalty for juveniles of life without the possibility of parole. Id. at 479-80, 489. Miller held that it was the mandatory nature of a life without parole sentence—the harshest penalty for a juvenile—that violated the Eighth Amendment and the principle of proportionality:

*Graham*, *Roper*, and our individualized sentencing decisions make clear that a judge or jury must have the opportunity to consider mitigating circumstances before imposing the harshest possible penalty for juveniles.

Id. at 489.

This Court subsequently held that *Miller* applies to juvenile homicide offenders facing de facto life without parole sentences and that every juvenile facing a literal or de facto life without parole sentence is entitled to a *Miller* hearing. *State v. Ramos*, 187 Wn.2d 420, 434, 437, 387 P.3d 650 (2017). At the *Miller* hearing, the court must meaningfully

consider how juveniles are different from adults, how those differences apply to the facts of the case, and whether those facts present the uncommon situation where a life without parole sentence for a juvenile is constitutionally permissible. *Ramos*, 187 Wn.2d at 434-35. The juvenile must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that his crimes reflect transient immaturity justifying a sentence below the standard range. *Id.* at 435.

Thus, the Eighth Amendment requires that in those cases where the juvenile faces either a literal or de facto life sentence, the court must conduct an individualized hearing to consider the mitigating qualities of youth. *Id.* at 428-29. The Eighth Amendment is concerned with "excessive sanctions" and is implicated when a sentencing scheme denies juvenile offenders a "meaningful opportunity" for release by "sentencing them to a lifetime in prison." *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 469, 479-80; *see Ramos*, 187 Wn.2d at 438-40.

In *Houston-Sconiers*, two juvenile defendants faced sentencing ranges of 36.75-40.25 years and 41.75-45.25 years, a large portion of which was based on mandatory firearm enhancements. *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d at 8. Relying entirely on the Eighth Amendment, and noting the lengthy sentences that these juveniles faced, this Court held sentencing courts must have complete discretion to consider the mitigating qualities of a juvenile's youth and to depart from the sentencing guidelines and other

mandatory sentence enhancements. *Id.* at 18-21. In reaching its decision, this Court cited to cases where juveniles faced mandatory sentences of 52.5 years, 50 years, and 45 years. *Id.* at 25-26. Thus, it was the length of the sentence that triggered the application of the Eighth Amendment in *Houston-Sconiers*. *See State v. Bacon*, 190 Wn.2d 458, 467, 415 P.3d 207 (2018) (recognizing that the "holding in *Houston-Sconiers* was based squarely on the United States Constitution" and that the decision "concerned only the length of the sentence").

This Court explained that *Miller* provides guidance for trial courts on how to use their discretion:

[Miller] holds that in exercising full discretion in juvenile sentencing, the court must consider mitigating circumstances related to the defendant's youth—including age and its hallmark features, such as the juvenile's immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences. It must also consider factors like the nature of the juvenile's surrounding environment and family circumstances, the extent of the juvenile's participation in the crime, and the way familial and peer pressures may have affected him [or her]. And it must consider how youth impacted any legal defense, along with any factors suggesting that the child might be successfully rehabilitated.

Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d at 23 (citing Miller, 567 U.S. at 477-78) (internal citations and quotations omitted). But as the Court of Appeals correctly noted, "Houston-Sconiers does not require the trial court to impose a sentence outside of the standard range if the trial court considers

the qualities of youth at sentencing and determines that a standard range sentence is appropriate." *See Collins*, No. 2019 WL 4034638 at \*3 (citing *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d at 21) (emphasis in original). Rather, the trial court must "meaningfully consider youth as a *possible* mitigating circumstance." *O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 696 (emphasis added).

Relying on the *Roper*, *Graham*, and *Miller* decisions citing studies establishing a link between youth and decreased criminal culpability, this Court has recognized that the neurological differences between adolescent and mature brains make young offenders, in general, less culpable for their crimes and *might* justify a trial court's finding that youth diminished a defendant's culpability. See e.g. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d at 691-93. O'Dell held that a defendant's youthfulness can support an exceptional sentence below the standard range and that the sentencing court must exercise its discretion to decide when that is. Id. at 698-99. In O'Dell, because the trial court believed it was *prohibited* from considering whether youth diminished the defendant's culpability and supported an exceptional sentence downward, the case was remanded for the trial court to meaningfully consider youth as a possible mitigating circumstance. *Id.* at 685-86, 696-97; see also State v. Gilbert, 193 Wn.2d 169, 177, 438 P.3d 133 (2019) (remanded for resentencing because trial court incorrectly believed it lacked discretion to

consider whether the mitigating qualities of the defendant's youth warranted an exceptional sentence).

Here, consistent with *O'Dell*, the Court of Appeals correctly recognized that the trial court was aware of its discretion to impose an exceptional sentence downward based on Collins' youth, but exercised its discretion and imposed a standard range sentence. *See* RP 72-78. This decision does not conflict with *O'Dell*. The trial court meaningfully considered the mitigating qualities of Collins' youth and properly exercised its discretion in determining that an exceptional sentence was not warranted.

Collins claims that the trial court did not consider how his "maturity, culpability, and decision making abilities (or lack thereof) compared to adult offenders" and that by failing to do so, the trial court "did not give effect to the mandate of the SRA, *Miller* or *O'Dell*." Pet. for Rev. at 12. First, none of the decisions cited by Collins require an explicit *comparison* between the juvenile defendant and adults. Rather, the trial court must consider the mitigating circumstances related to the individual defendant's youth and its attendant characteristics. *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 476-78. This is what the court did at Collins' sentencing.

Second, Collins misconstrues the mandate of *Miller*. *See* Pet. for Rev. at 10-12. *Miller* held that the Eighth Amendment prohibits a sentencing scheme that mandates life in prison without the possibility of

parole for juvenile offenders. *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 479. *Miller* requires sentencing courts to have the opportunity to consider the mitigating circumstances of a juvenile's youth before imposing *the harshest possible penalty* of life without parole. *Id.* at 479-80, 489. Thus, *Miller* applies only to mandatory life without parole sentences. Here, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Miller* because Collins was not sentenced to life without parole. In fact, Collins received neither a literal nor de facto life sentence. *See* CP 414. Rather, the court sentenced seventeen-year-old Collins to a total of 260 months incarceration with credit for 490 days of time served. CP 414.<sup>5</sup> Collins will be released from prison in his midthirties. Thus, he not only has a "meaningful opportunity" for release but is assured of release in his mid-thirties.

Here, the trial court acknowledged that it read and considered all of the mitigation materials and that it was familiar with *Houston-Sconiers*, which requires the court to consider all of the mitigating factors, not just the crime itself. RP 26, 73-77. The court explicitly stated that it put "a great deal of thought" into the mitigation materials submitted by Collins and recognized that it had discretion to impose an exceptional sentence downward based on Collins' youth. *See* RP 76-77. The court noted that

٠

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Collins may receive earned early release time of ten percent off from his 200-month sentence for second-degree murder. *See* RCW 9.94A.729(3).

consideration of immaturity and failure to appreciate risks and consequences is not made in a vacuum, and noted that Collins appeared to have a good appreciation of the risks involved in his crime. RP 75-77. The court also noted the discrepancies between Collins' guilty plea and his expert's report that he was in fear for his life. RP 74. Finally, the court noted that rehabilitation should be a part of the court's decision, as are the other goals of sentencing, but that there was scarce information about rehabilitation as it applies to Collins. *See* RP 73-74, 77.

The trial court meaningfully considered *Houston-Sconiers* and the mitigation materials submitted by Collins and subsequently determined that there was no basis for an exceptional sentence downward based on youth. *See* RP 73-78. The court adopted the State's recommendation of a standard range sentence. RP 77-78. As the Court of Appeals correctly held, this was a proper exercise of the trial court's discretion. And the decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with any Supreme Court decision.

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